
From: Joshua Safran <jsafran@strategylaw.com>  
Sent: Monday, November 24, 2025 8:44 PM 
To: Board of Directors <board@valleywater.org> 
Cc: Omar El-Qoulaq <Oelqoulaq@valleywater.org> 
Subject: Claimants’ Response to Recommendation of Denial; Claim No. L2450025; First 
Community Housing & Betty Anne Gardens, L.P. 

*** This email originated from outside of Valley Water. Do not click links or open 
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe. *** 

Dear President and Members of the Board, 

Please find attached our letter to you of today’s date for your consideration before and at 
your Board meeting of November 25, 2025. 

All the best, 

Joshua 

Joshua Safran, Esq. 

One Almaden Boulevard, Suite 700 

San Jose, California 95113 

Phone:  510.384.7627 

Email:  jsafran@strategylaw.com  

The information in this e-mail and any attachments is confidential, and may be subject to 
the attorney-client or work product privilege.  If you are not the intended recipient, any 
review, disclosure, distribution, or use of such information is strictly prohibited.  If you have 
received this e-mail in error, please destroy it and notify the sender immediately. 

Handout 4.5-A 
11/25/2025

Page 1 of 34

mailto:jsafran@strategylaw.com
mailto:board@valleywater.org
mailto:Oelqoulaq@valleywater.org
mailto:jsafran@strategylaw.com


One Almaden Boulevard, Suite 700  San Jose, CA 95113   
P: (408) 478-4100  F: (408) 295-4100  www.strategylaw.com 

    
 

  

 
November 24, 2025 JOSHUA SAFRAN, ESQ. 

jsafran@strategylaw.com 
 

Board of Directors  
Santa Clara Valley Water District 
5750 Almaden Expressway 
San Jose, CA 95118-3686 

 
 
 
 

 
Via Email (Board@valleywater.org) 

Claimants’ Response to Recommendation of Denial; Claim No. L2450025 
First Community Housing & Betty Anne Gardens, L.P. 

Dear President and Members of the Board: 

Please be advised that our firm is counsel of record for First Community Housing, a California 
nonprofit corporation (“FCH”), and Betty Anne Gardens, L.P., a California limited partnership 
(“the LP”) (FCH and the LP being, collectively, the “Claimants”) ), the owners and operators of 
the Betty Anne Gardens residential community located at 945 Lundy Avenue, San Jose, which 
sustained catastrophic flooding damage during the February 13, 2025 Penitencia Creek flood 
event. We respectfully submit this letter in advance of the November 25, 2025 Board meeting to 
correct factual misunderstandings underlying staff’s recommendation to deny the Claimants’ 
Government Code claim. 

The letter we received from the Assistant District Counsel, dated November 13, 2025, attached 
hereto as Exhibit A, recommends denial of the Claimants’ claim based on the remarkable assertion 
that Valley Water “does not own, control, or maintain the reach of Penitencia Creek adjacent to 
Betty Anne Gardens.” While this is a strange formulation, we understand the assertion to be that 
Valley Water does not own, control, or have an obligation to maintain those areas of land 
whereupon the debris jam formed which caused the Claimants’ damages. This assertion is 
demonstrably incorrect. 

As discussed below: (1) Valley Water holds property interests, including recorded easements, 
over the exact reach of Penitencia Creek where the debris jam formed; (2) Valley Water has 
expressly accepted and recorded those easements for flood-control and channel-maintenance 
purposes; (3) the debris jam that caused the flooding is located on and within those areas, 
including the subject easement areas; and, (4) Valley Water’s own cameras captured the debris 
jam in this location in real time. Under these facts, Government Code § 818.6 does not shield the 
District from liability. 

We request that the Board reject the recommendation of denial and instead take appropriate action 
to resolve the claim, consistent with Valley Water’s legal obligations and its mission to protect 
residents from avoidable flood hazards. 
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I. Valley Water Holds Property Interests Including Recorded Flood-Control 
Easements Covering the Relevant Reaches of Penitencia Creek 

Valley Water has long held property interests, including multiple recorded easements over the 
stretches of Penitencia Creek upriver of the Betty Anne Gardens parcel, including the precise 
area where the Debris Jam formed and caused the catastrophic surge and overtopping on 
February 13, 2025. 

Among the subject easements held by Valley Water, we include reference to: 

A. 1979 Flood-Control Easement (Endo Parcels) 

The 1979 easement (Document No. 4032-17) conveys to Valley Water perpetual rights to: 

• construct, reconstruct, inspect, maintain and repair a channel, protection works and 
appurtenant structures; 

• remove trees or brush constituting a hazard to persons or property or interfering with the 
use of said area; and, 

• enter upon said land with vehicles, tools, implements whenever and wherever necessary 
for flood control or storm drainage purposes. 

B. 1983 Flood-Control Easements 

Two 1983 easement deeds (Docs. 4032-36 and 4032-32) likewise grant Valley Water: 

• stormwater-drainage and flood-control easements over the same reach of Penitencia Creek 
and, 

• with full rights of access, maintenance, inspection, and vegetation removal. 

C. 2012 Storm Drain Easement 

Claimants’ own parcel is also subject to a 2012 recorded Storm Drain Easement granted for 
drainage and flood-protection purposes, expressly requiring the easement area to be kept clear of 
obstructions and giving Valley Water associated rights of operation and maintenance. Further, that 
easement expressly requires that the grantee indemnify, defend and hold the grantor harmless from 
all costs, losses, claims and liabilities arising out of or in connection with: (a) the physical condition 
of the easement area; and, (b) grantee’s use of the easement area. 

This indemnity runs with the land and expressly applies to all successors, including Valley Water, 
which remains the responsible flood-control entity benefiting from the easement. 
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D. ALTA Survey Confirms Easement Locations 

Valley Water’s property interests, including the subject easements are graphically depicted in a 
2025 ALTA/NSPS survey overlay showing property interests adjacent to and crossing Penitencia 
Creek immediately upstream of the Community. 

The above-described easements and survey are attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

II. Valley Water’s Own Camera Footage Shows the Debris Jam Forming and Remaining 
Within District Easement Limits 

The District operates camera site 9015 – Upper Penitencia Creek at King Road, directed precisely 
at the location of the obstruction. The District’s own timestamps show ongoing District presence, 
equipment, and personnel in direct response to the accumulating debris. 

The District’s webcam images (February 13, 2025, 09:00 and 13:00 PST) unmistakably show: 

• substantial wood, trash, and vegetative debris lodged directly against the fencing and 
channel bank; 

• heavy equipment and District personnel attempting to respond upstream of the Community; 
and, 

• the creek overtopping and flowing forcibly around and over the obstruction. 

These images confirm that: 

A. The obstruction was located on land controlled by the District; 

B. District staff responded because they recognized the Debris Jam was within their 
jurisdiction and duties; and, 

C. Had the obstruction been effectively cleared sooner, the destructive surge that 
overwhelmed the Community could have been avoided. 

The above-described images are attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

III. The Recommended Basis for Denial Is Legally Incorrect 

Government Code §818.6 precludes liability for failure to inspect property not owned or controlled 
by the public entity. But here, Valley Water does own and control the relevant property interests 
for purposes of flood control, channel maintenance, debris removal, and hazard mitigation. 

Claimants’ Government Code claim asserts liability under statutory provisions governing 
dangerous conditions of public property, including: failure to maintain flood-control works; 
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November 13, 2025                  Via Certified Mail 

jsafran@strategylaw.com 
 
Joshua Safran, Esq. 
Strategy Law, LLP 
One Almaden Boulevard, Suite 700 
San Jose, CA  95113 
 
Re: Claim of Strategy Law, LLP – Claim No. L2450025 
 
Dear Mr. Safran: 
 
On August 13, 2025, Valley Water received your claim submitted on behalf of First Community 
Housing, a California nonprofit corporation, and Betty Anne Gardens, L.P., a California limited 
partnership, in which you allege damages to real property, personal property, and persons, 
proximately caused by Valley Water’s tortious acts and omissions. 
 
Your claim has been carefully reviewed pursuant to the California Government Claims Act (Gov. 
Code §§ 810 et seq.). Under the Act, a public entity is not liable for an injury except as otherwise 
provided by statute. (Gov. Code § 815, subd. (a)). Further, a public entity is not liable for injury 
caused by its failure to inspect any property other than its own property. (Gov. Code § 818.6). 
 
Valley Water does not own, control, or maintain the reach of Penitencia Creek adjacent to Betty 
Anne Gardens. Valley Water requires a right-of-way and cooperative agreement with landowners 
to access the area and implement flood protection measures or clear debris. Absent such an 
agreement, the landowner is responsible for maintaining the area or clearing debris from the creek 
at that location, not Valley Water. Accordingly, Valley Water staff will respectfully request that the 
Board of Directors deny your claim in its entirety.  
 
This item is scheduled to be heard during the November 25, 2025, Board meeting which begins at 
1:00 pm. You have the right to appear before the Board or attend by Zoom to contest our 
recommendation. In the event of a Board meeting date change, I will provide you with advance 
notice. You can also monitor the Board meeting schedule and associated agenda items at:  
https://scvwd.legistar.com/Calendar.aspx.    
 
If you have any questions, please contact me at (408) 630-2326. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Omar El-Qoulaq 
Assistant District Counsel 
Office of the District Counsel 
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